
CITY OF THOMASVILLE COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Monday, October 16, 2023 – 6:00 P.M. 

20 Stadium Drive, Thomasville, NC 27360 

Mayor Raleigh York, Jr. ~ Mayor Pro Tem Hunter Thrift 

1. Call to Order

2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda

3. Recognitions and Presentations

A. National Breast Cancer Awareness Month (October)
B. Domestic Violence Awareness Month (October)

4. Public Forum Please sign up in person at the podium to speak for two minutes on any
topic. The two-minute time limit will be enforced.

5. Public Hearings

A. Request for Rezoning:  (Z-23-06)
Applicant/Owner:  William & Martha Anderson 
Location:  Lambeth Rd. 
Parcel Number:  16348C0000410 
Existing Zoning:  R-10 Low Density Residential
Proposed Zoning: C-2 Highway Commercial

The Planning Board held a public hearing on September 26, 2023 and voted 5-1 to 
approve this request because: 

• This area is adjacent to 109 – one of the major highways coming into Thomasville.
• Changing to a C-2 would promote retailing and personal services for residents and

non-residents.
• The 2035 Comprehensive Plan encourages mixed-use and commercial use along

109.
• Find that this rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest due to its consistency

with the comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance of the goals and
objectives of the comprehensive plan.

B. Request for Rezoning (Z-23-07) for Solar Farm at Baptist Children's Home  
of NC 

Applicant: Kayla Marshall  
Owner: Baptist Children’s Homes of North Carolina, Inc.  

(c/o Sam Barefoot) 
Location: Farmview Road & Baptist Children’s Home Road  
Parcel #s: 1633400000029, 16106000B0001, 1633800000007 



Page 2 City Council Meeting Agenda October 16, 2023 
 

& 1615800080001  
Existing Zoning:  R-10, R-8, M-2 Proposed Zoning: CZ-M-1  
Conditional Use Permit:  Solar Energy  
 

The Planning Board held a public hearing on September 26, 2023 and voted 6-0 to 
approve this request because: 

 
• The rural nature of the land to be used for the Solar Farm and the land surrounding 

the property provide a significant buffer for adjoining properties. (As long as it will 
include Opaque fencing, where the project abuts residential properties and no other 
buffers exist).  

•  Analysis shows no negative impact to property values where the Solar Farm abut 
nearby properties.  

•  The Solar Farm is a compatible use for the property owned by Baptist Children’s 
Home.  

•  Find that this rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest due to its consistency 
with the comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance of the goals and 
objectives of the comprehensive plan. 

 

6. Consent Agenda   

A. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Briefing Meeting on 09/11/23 
B. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Council Meeting on 09/18/23 

C. Consideration of ARPA Grant Project Ordinance  

D. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance: Assistance to Firefighters Grant 

E. Consideration of Budget Amendment P4-01 

F. Consideration of Revised Grant Project Ordinance: Golden Leaf Project M – 
Nucor 

G. Consideration of Grant Project Ordinance: Governor’s Highway Safety Program 

H. Consideration of Resolution in Support of Operation Green Light 
 

7. Regular Agenda   

A. Consideration of Amendments to City Ordinances Chapter 54, Article 1:  
•  Section 54-12. Soliciting and Begging 
•  Section 54-16. Camping on Public and Private Property 
•  Section 54-17. Urinating and Defecating on Public Property 

B. Consideration of Replacement of Article II. Noise Ordinance 
8. Committee Reports and Appointments, Mayor’s Report and Appointments, City 

Manager’s Report, City Attorney’s Report   

9. Additional Items 

10. Adjournment  







Admin. Use Only:

Psafe3

Council Action Requested:

Supporting Documents 

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Public Safety

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 10.3.23

Item Name:
Zoning Case for undeveloped Lot Case Number Z-23-06 on Lambeth Road

Description of Item:
Zoning Admendment - Lambeth Road from R-10 (Low Density Residential) to C-2 (Highway Commercial)

Back-Up Materials:

Discussion

Requested By: Department:



To: Michael Brandt, City Manager 
From: Chuck George, Planning Director 
Date: September 27, 2023 
Re: City Council Meeting, October 16, 2023     
 
The following items has been before the Board of Planning & Adjustment on Tuesday, September 26, 
2023. 
 

 Request for Rezoning (Z-23-06) 
 Applicant/Owner:  William & Martha Anderson 
 Location:  Lambeth Rd. 
 Parcel Number: 16348C0000410 
 Existing Zoning:  R-10 Low Density Residential 
 Proposed Zoning:  C-2 Highway Commercial  

 
A public hearing was conducted, and the board voted 5-1 to approve the request for the following 
reasons: 

• This area is adjacent to 109 – one of the major highways coming into Thomasville. 
• Changing to a C-2 would promote retailing and personal services for residents and non-residents. 
• The 2035 Comprehensive Plan encourages mixed-use and commercial use along 109. 
• Find that this rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest due to its consistency with the 

comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance of the goals and objectives of the 
comprehensive plan. 

 
 



 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 
OF THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
 
BE IT ORDAINED, that the Code of Ordinances of the City of Thomasville be amended in 
the following respects: 
 
 
SECTION 1.  That the Official Zoning Map of the City of Thomasville, North Carolina as 
set out in Appendix A (Zoning), Article IV (Establishment of Districts), Section 2 (Location 
and Boundaries of Districts) be amended by changing certain property from R-10 (Low 
Density Residential) Zoning District to C-2 (Highway Commercial) Zoning District as shown 
on the attached map (Z-23-06). 
 
 
 
 
SECTION  2.   That this Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the City 
Council of the City of Thomasville. 
 
ADOPTED this the ____________ day of __________________, _________, by the City 
Council of the City of Thomasville. 
 
 
 
 

                                                                           
____________________________________ 

          Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
 Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk    
 
 
 







 
City of Thomasville Planning & Zoning 
Rezoning Case # Z-23-06 
Staff Report: Chuck George, Director 
 
Applicant/Owner: William F & Martha Anderson 

Location: Lambeth Road 

Tax Parcel ID Number: 16348C0000410 

Request:  Rezoning from R-10 to C-2 

Requested Zoning District Characteristics: 
The current zoning is R-10 Low Density Residential – This district is defined as low density 
residential areas of mostly single-family dwellings plus open areas where similar residential 
development will likely occur. The uses permitted in this district are designed to stabilize and 
protect the essential characteristics of the area and to prohibit all activities of a commercial nature 
except certain home occupations controlled by specific limitations. 
 
The proposed zoning is C-2 Highway Commercial - This district is defined as certain areas that 
are primarily designed for citizens using the major highways that run through or around the city. 
The district is customarily located along the major arterial highways. This district may also 
provide retailing and personal services for the benefit of residents in nearby areas and 
nonresidents. Included also are certain functions, such as warehousing, that are compatible with 
the primary uses.  

Site Information 

Size of Parcel for Flag Lot Approx. 2 acres  
Existing Land Use R-10 Low density residential 
Proposed Land Use C-2 Highway commercial 
Surrounding Property Zoning and 
Use 

Direction Zoning Use 
N R-10 Residential 
E R-10 Residential 
S R-10 Residential 
W R-10 Residential 

Physical Characteristics Undeveloped land 
Historic Properties NA 
  
  
  

History of Denied Cases: 
N/A 
 
Compatibility with Adopted Plans 
The 2035 Land Development Plan indicates the areas as Development and Re-development area 
(#3), NC 109 South Commercial & Mixed-use. Encourage mixed-use and commercial along NC 
109 and Liberty Drive south of I-85. Medium and high-density residential. Discourage commercial 
expansion into existing residential areas that do not have direct access to NC 109 or Liberty Drive 
south of I-85.  
 
 



Staff Comment 
Approximately 2 acres of undeveloped land adjacent to residential properties and NC HWY 109. 
The 2035 Comprehensive Plan encourages mixed-use and commercial along NC 109. The required 
buffer between commercial and residential property will suffice to protect existing property 
owners. NCDOT may require road improvements for commercial development.  
 
Attachments 

• Rezoning Application 
• Legal description 
• Zoning map 
• Davidson County GIS,  
• 2035 Land use map 
• Permitted use table 
• Consistency statement to approve or deny request 

 
 
Public Notice 

Notification Planning/Adjustment Board City Council 
Public Hearing Notice 9/14/23 & 9/21/23 10/5/23 & 10/12/23 
Property Posted 9/14/23 10/5/23 
Notification Letter Sent 9/14/23 10/5/23 
   

Zoning Board Recommendation 
A public hearing was conducted, and the board voted 5-1 to approve the request for the 
following reasons: 

• This area is adjacent to 109 – one of the major highways coming into Thomasville. 
• Changing to a C-2 would promote retailing and personal services for residents and non-

residents. 
• The 2035 Comprehensive Plan encourages mixed-use and commercial use along 109. 
• Find that this rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest due to its consistency with 

the comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance of the goals and objectives of the 
comprehensive plan. 

 
 
 

 



CITY OF THOMASVILLE 

Planning & Zoning Department 

PO BOX 368 • THOMASVILLE, NC 27360 • (336) 475-4255 

REZONING APPLICATION File No. Z- ;).J-6(;, Date 
-------

Applicant's Address P.o. Box i :Z.V,b Tho rnq (,v//Je Nt )... 7 3 lo I 

Property Owner . 5a.n1 e l1 :5 u hl'l I.I "f' 

Property Owner's Address 

Existing Zoning ..,_g--1-· _ .. """"/ f,)=, _______ Requested Zoning r 2 

Address or Location of Property to be Rezoned L�b{J.Th AcJ, "7'l1o'r<)a...S11J:� fl C , vacant lt,T

Description of Property Pa,,.. �-c l .# I� 1 Yf3 C DO OD 4- J o 

Fee Received $ s-oo Map No 16- 3L/fse.60604110 
----------------

{PLEASE MAKE CHECK PAYABLE TO "CITY OF THOMASVILLE") 

,-26- 23

Owner's 
� � 

--· Signature �
1

�.t�:__
;:::-,

::_ 
? 

Planning Board Hearing Date 
• . _______________ .a,__ ____ ....._ ___ _ 

Planning Board Action D Approved D Denied Vote of: 

City Council Hearing Date /0-/6-d3 

City Council Action D Approved D Denied Vote of: 

Signed 

Secretary to Planning Board 

X 5-1















MOTION TO REZONE INCLUDING NCGS 160-383 LANGUAGE 

I move to rezone the property from _______ to ______ _ 
for the following reasons: 

Further, I move that the City Council find that this rezoning is reasonable and in the 
public interest due to its consistency with the comprehensive plan and, as a result, its 
furtherance of the goals and objectives of the comprehensive plan. 

MOTION TO DENY THE REZONING INCLUDING NCGS 160-383 LANGUAGE 

I move to deny the rezoning of the property from _______ to 

________ for the following reasons: 

Further, I move that the City Council find that this rezoning is unreasonable and not in 
the public interest due to its inconsistency with the comprehensive plan and, as a result, 
is a hindrance to the goals and objectives of the comprehensive plan. 

I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

I 



Admin. Use Only:

Psafe4

Council Action Requested:

Supporting documents

Agenda Item Cover Sheet

Committee Name Public Safety

Committee Date 

And Agenda # 10.3.23

Item Name:

Zoning Case Z-23-07 for Solar Farm at Baptist Children's Home of NC

Description of Item:

Zoning Amendment - Farmview Road and Baptist Children's Home Road from R-8 (Medium Density Residential), R-10 (Low 

Density Residential), M-2 ( Heavy Industrial) to CZ-M-1 (Conditional Zoning Light Industrial), Special Use Permit: Solar Farm

Back-Up Materials:

Requested By: Department:



To: Michael Brandt, City Manager 
From: Chuck George, Planning Director 
Date: September 27, 2023 
Re: City Council Meeting, October 16, 2023     
 
The following items has been before the Board of Planning & Adjustment on Tuesday, September 26, 
2023. 
 

Request for Rezoning (Z-23-07) 
Applicant:  Kayla Marshall 
Owner:  Baptist Children’s Homes of North Carolina, Inc. (c/o Sam Barefoot) 
Location:  Farmview Road & Baptist Children’s Home Road 
Parcel Number: 1633400000029, 16106000B0001, 1633800000007, 1615800080001 
Existing Zoning:  R-10, R-8, M-2  
Proposed Zoning:  CZ-M-1  
Conditional Use Permit: Solar Energy 
 

A public hearing was conducted, and the board voted 6-0 to approve the request for the following 
reasons: 

• The rural nature of the land to be used for the Solar Farm and the land surrounding the property 
provide a significant buffer for adjoining properties. (As long as it will include Opaque fencing, 
where the project abuts residential properties and no other buffers exist). 

• Analysis shows no negative impact to property values where the Solar Farm abut nearby 
properties. 

• The Solar Farm is a compatible use for the property owned by Baptist Children’s Home. 
• Find that this rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest due to its consistency with the 

comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance of the goals and objectives of the 
comprehensive plan. 



 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 
OF THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
 
BE IT ORDAINED, that the Code of Ordinances of the City of Thomasville be amended in 
the following respects: 
 
 
SECTION 1.  That the Official Zoning Map of the City of Thomasville, North Carolina as 
set out in Appendix A (Zoning), Article IV (Establishment of Districts), Section 2 (Location 
and Boundaries of Districts) be amended by changing certain property from R-8 (Medium 
Density Residential), R-10 (Low Density Residential), M-2 (Heavy Industrial) Zoning 
District to CZ-M-1 (Conditional Zoning Light Industrial) Zoning District as shown on the 
attached map (Z-23-07). 
 
 
 
 
SECTION  2.   That this Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the City 
Council of the City of Thomasville. 
 
ADOPTED this the ____________ day of __________________, _________, by the City 
Council of the City of Thomasville. 
 
 
 
 

                                                                           
____________________________________ 

          Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
 Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk    
 
 
 







 
City of Thomasville Planning & Zoning 
Rezoning Case # Z-23-07 
Staff Report: Chuck George, Director 
 
Applicant: Kayla Marshall 

Owner: Baptist Children’s Home of NC 

Location:   Farmview Road / Baptist Children’s Home Road  

Tax Parcel ID Number: 1633400000029, 16106000B0001, 1633800000007, 1615800080001 

Pin Number: 6777-03-42-2968, 6777-02-55-6829, 6777-03-40-2146, 6777-04-64-6673 

Existing:    R10, R8, M2 

Request:   CZ-M1 

Conditional Use Permit: Solar Farm  

 
Site Information 

Size of Parcel Approximately 300 acres 
Existing Land Use Forestry and Institutional 
Proposed Land Use Solar Farm 
Surrounding Property Zoning and 
Use 

Direction Zoning Use 
N R-8, R-10 Residential 
E R-8, R-10 Residential 
S R-10, M-1, 

M-2 
Residential, Hotels 
Convenience stores 

W R-10, M-2 Residential,  
Waste Treatment Plant 

Physical Characteristics The Site is used for Forestry  
Historic Properties NA 
General Site Information The proposed site is undeveloped with Pine Trees, 

Power Transmission Line, Sanitary Sewer Line,  
Pump Station, and North Hamby Creek 

  
  

History of Cases:  
Z-18-07 Duke Energy Carolina, LLC 
Duke Energy Carolina withdrew the rezoning application on August 10, 2018, to address 
concerns regarding solar in residential zones. Duke Energy amended the solar ordinance and text 
amendment to remove R-8 and R-10 from article V, Note 24, at the City Council meeting in 
August 2018.  
 
Compatibility with Adopted Plans 
The 2035 Land Development Plan indicates the areas that have not been identified for development 
or redevelopment are suitable for infill development that is consistent with the existing surrounding 
land uses.  
 
 
 



Staff Comments: 
Farmview Solar proposes to build a solar facility with a projected buildable area of approximately 
240 acres—the facility is located on Baptist Children’s Home Road in the City limits and the ETJ. 
The 2035 Comprehensive Plan identified the area for infill development that is consistent with the 
existing surrounding land uses. 
 
Special provisions for conditional use districts and conditional use permits 

Proposals for rezoning to any conditional use district shall always be accompanied by a request for a 
conditional use permit. Such proposals and requests shall be processed and considered in the same 
procedure as conventional rezoning proposals, except as otherwise set forth herein, and the voting shall be 
the same as that required for zoning matters.  

Any proposal for conditional use district rezoning and its accompanying request for a conditional use permit 
shall be heard and considered simultaneously. If the city council should determine that the property involved 
in the proposal should be rezoned and the conditional use permit issued, it shall adopt an ordinance rezoning 
the property and authorizing the issuance of the conditional use permit. Otherwise the proposal shall be 
denied.  

In granting a conditional use permit, the city council shall make the following affirmative findings:  

1) The use requested is among those listed as an eligible conditional use in the district in which the 
subject property is located or is to be located;  

2) That the conditional use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where 
proposed and developed according to the plan as proposed;  

3) That the conditional use meets all required conditions and specifications;  

4) That the conditional use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property, or 
that the use is a public necessity; and  

5) That the location and character of the conditional use if developed according to the plan as proposed 
will be in harmony with the area in which it is to be located and in general conformity with the plan 
of development of Thomasville and its environs.  

In granting a conditional use permit, the city council may impose such additional restrictions and 
requirements upon such permit as it may deem necessary in order that the purpose and intent of this 
ordinance are served, public welfare secured and substantial justice done. If all requirements and conditions 
are accepted by the applicant, the city council shall authorize the issuance of the conditional use permit; 
otherwise the permit shall be denied.  

Any conditional use permit so authorized shall be perpetually binding upon the property included in such 
permit unless subsequently changed or amended by the city council, as provided for in this article.  

Final plans for any development to be made pursuant to any conditional use permit shall be submitted to the 
board of planning and adjustment for review in the same manner as other development plans are now 
required to be approved by the board. In approving such final plans, the board of planning and adjustment 
may modify the requirements or conditions of such conditional use permit where in the opinion of the board 
such modification will result in equal or better performance and provided that the objective and purpose of 
the requirements and conditions of the conditional use permit are maintained.  

In granting modifications, the board of planning and adjustment may require such conditions as will secure 
the objectives of the requirements or conditions modified. Any violation of a term or condition of a 
conditional use permit shall be treated the same as a violation of this ordinance and shall be subject to the 
same remedies and penalties as any such violation.  



The city council may change or amend any conditional use permit, after a public hearing upon 
recommendation by the board of planning and adjustment and subject to the same consideration as provided 
for in this article for the original issuance of a conditional use permit.  

No proposal to amend or change any conditional use permit shall be considered within 12 months of the date 
of the original authorization of such permit or within 12 months of hearing of any previous proposal to 
amend or change any such permit.  

 
Public Notice 
Notification Planning/Adjustment Board City Council 
Public Hearing Notice 9/14/23 & 9/21/23 10/5/23 & 10/12/23 
Property Posted 9/14/23 10/5/23 
Notification Letter Sent 9/14/23 10/5/23 
   

 
Enclosed Documents   
 

• Rezoning Application (Z-23-07) 
• Conditional Use Application 
• Authorization Letter   
• Zoning Map 
• Zoning Site Plan 
• Landscape Plan 
• Decommissioning Plan 
• Proposed Farmview solar Farm 

 
 
Board of Planning/Adjustment Recommendation: 
A public hearing was conducted, and the board voted 6-0 to approve the request for the 
following reasons: 

• The rural nature of the land to be used for the Solar Farm and the land surrounding the 
property provide a significant buffer for adjoining properties. (As long as it will include 
Opaque fencing, where the project abuts residential properties and no other buffers exist). 

• Analysis shows no negative impact to property values where the Solar Farm abut nearby 
properties. 

• The Solar Farm is a compatible use for the property owned by Baptist Children’s Home. 
• Find that this rezoning is reasonable and in the public interest due to its consistency with 

the comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance of the goals and objectives of the 
comprehensive plan. 

 
 





X 6-0
10/16/23













 

 
09/01/2023 

A survey map and written legal description of the area for which rezoning is being 
sought. The map must show the classification of the property for which the change is 
sought as well as the classification of all properties within one-hundred (100) feet of 
any boundary line of the requested property. 

A survey map and written legal description of the project area with the classification of all 
properties within one hundred (100) feet of the project boundary line will be provided to 
the City of Thomasville Department of Planning prior to the construction of Farmview 
Solar. A preliminary map of the properties seeking a conditional rezoning to the conditional 
zoning district CZ-M-1 (Light Industrial) is shown below in Exhibit A.  

  

 

FARMVIEW SOLAR – THE CITY OF THOMASVILLE, NC 
 
 
Farmview Solar – Petition Survey Map 



Exhibit A – Farmview Solar Preliminary Map 

Attached hereto: 
 































































































CITY OF THOMASVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA

FARMVIEW SOLAR

Application For Conditional Rezoning and 
Special Use Permit



 Project Overview
 Project Specifics
 General Conformity with City of Thomasville 

Land Development Plan 2035

AGENDA



Project Overview

Farmview Solar
• Originated in March 2023

• Approximately 28 MW, about 3,500 homes

• May incorporate battery storage, at Duke Energy’s 
discretion

• Approximately $2.4M in net new taxes to Davidson 
County (Years 1-40)

• Requesting conditional rezone from R8, R10 & M2 
zoning districts to CZ-M-1 conditional zoning 
district and approval of Special Use Permit

• Complies with City of Thomasville Land 
Development Plan 2035



Site Map

TOTAL PROJECT AREA 
= 

± 321 ACRES

AREA INSIDE THE FENCE
= 

± 160 ACRES



Vicinity Map

Approximately 0.5 miles from downtown Thomasville
*map not to scale*



Development Status

Summary:
• Completed a number of environmental / engineering studies

• Hosted two public information meetings  

• Invited all residents within 100 ft. of project parcels 

Moving Forward
• Project to enter Duke Energy 2023 Solar RFP 

• Shortlisted projects announced in January 2024; Winners announced in May 2024

• If selected, tracking for a 2027 construction start

• Final engineering / design to commence after completion of the Duke Energy process



Site Design

Setbacks and Vegetative Buffers
• Adheres to all City setback requirements

• Front: 35 ft., Side: 20 ft., Rear: 20 ft. 
• Significant natural buffers from roadways and adjoining 

residential properties
• Sewer lines
• N Hamby Creek
• 100 ft. setback from residences along West Holly Hill Rd. 

(5x required setback)
• 30 ft. from the centerline of North Hamby Creek
• Vegetative Buffer: 15 ft. around the entire project boundary

• Existing vegetative to be preserved where possible
• Vegetation to be planted where necessary

• Will avoid wetlands and floodplains



Site Design

Design
• Requesting ability to use a 7-8ft wildlife-friendly, non-opaque 

fencing
• City requires opaque 8ft fence.

• Wildlife corridors
• Pollinator-friendly ground cover

• May need to relocate Farmview Rd

Example of Potential Wildlife Corridor Along North 
Hamby Creek

Neighborhood feedback:
• Concern about impact on wildlife



Minimal Impact

• Property Value Analysis shows no impact on 

property values

• No noise, light, odor, vibration or traffic created 

by solar farm

• Complies with City of Thomasville floodplain 

development requirements

• Concealment of panels

1-YEAR GROWTH 3-YEAR GROWTH



Landscape Plan

• 15’ buffer of existing preserved vegetation along project boundary 

• Will supplement with planted vegetation where understory foliage is insufficient 

• Preserved vegetation is planned around 100% of the project

5-Year Growth Landscape 
Buffer Renderings

100 ft. Section at 5-Year Growth



Community Benefits

A substantial benefit to the Thomasville community
• Approximately $2.4M in net new taxes for Davidson County (40-year period)

• EPA estimates it will produce approximately $1.1 – $2.4 million of annual public health benefit

• Equates to approximately $32 – $73 million over the life of the project (40-year period)

• Construction:

• Approximately 150 people required

• 1 year construction period

• Will work with City & County EDC, Thomasville Chamber to utilize local contractors and suppliers 

wherever possible

• No demand on tax-funded / City services

• Improves the resiliency of the Thomasville electrical grid

• Lessens the amount of power outages due to extreme weather conditions



 Fostering Quality Land Use and Development
 Development and Re-Development Areas

 Infrastructure & Transportation
 Economic Development
 Historic Preservation
 National Register of Historic Places Map

General Conformity with City of 
Thomasville Land Development Plan 

2035



General Conformity with Land Use 
Development Plan 2035

Fostering Quality of Land Use and Development

Goal 2 – Create additional mixed-use opportunities in development and redevelopment 

areas 

a. Support a variety of desired uses and discourage undesired uses as outlined in each 

development and re-development area

 Solar development fits surrounding uses and does not impede on desired uses within the 

identified development and re-development areas

 Use: low impact use while providing County tax base



General Conformity with Land Use 
Development Plan 2035

City of Thomasville
Development & Re-Development Areas Map:

 Located outside of Municipal Limits

 Within City of Thomasville ETJ boundary

 Outside of City identified development and re-development 

areas

Site Location



General Conformity with Land Use 
Development Plan 2035

Goal 1 – Enhance community services and infrastructure including construction of complete 

streets and high-performing utilities

a. Keep infrastructure repaired or replaced in a timely manner

b. Ensure the most cost-effective way, if needed in the future, to extend utilities for future 

development

 Farmview Solar will power approximately 3,500+ homes

 Power generated will be distributed by Duke Energy and will likely serve local residents and businesses, 

providing a reliable energy source to the grid

 Will not require expansion of water or sewer utilities

Infrastructure & Transportation



General Conformity with Land Use 
Development Plan 2035

Goal 1 – Promote economic development through attracting and retaining business and 

industry

Goal 2 – Prioritize redeveloping vacant, abandoned and underutilized properties

 Redeveloping an underutilized managed timber tract to provide reliable income for BCH

 Farmview Solar will provide a substantial increase to the Davidson County tax base 

 Encourages economic development through an increase in local demand during construction

Economic Development



General Conformity with Land Use 
Development Plan 2035

Goal 1 – Continue to preserve Thomasville’s unique heritage throughout the city

a. Preserve aesthetically pleasing architectural designs of established and valued structures 

within neighborhoods and older commercial areas

b.Continue to support the Historic Preservation Commission and existing historic districts

Historic Preservation 

 Outside of all City historic districts

 Initial screen shows no on-site historic or cultural resources

 Will coordinate with NCSHPO (if needed) to ensure the preservation of historic and cultural resources

 Mills Home Orphanage Cemetery (Gods Acre) located on-site, outside of the project fence line 

 Will adhere to all federal regulations pertaining to development near Cemeteries



General Conformity with Land Use 
Development Plan 2035

National Register of Historic Places Map:

Site Location

 Located outside of the City’s Local Historic District 

and the National Register Historic Districts



Farmview Solar Summary 

Farmview Solar project requesting 
conditional rezoning from R8, R10 & M2 to 
CZ-M-1 & approval of Special Use Permit 

In general conformity with the City’s 
ordinances and Land Development Plan

Hear from Fox Rothschild, Kirkland Appraisals, 
and Tommy Cleveland on project specifics



CITY OF THOMASVILLE
Thank you very much!





 
 

MINUTES FOR THE THOMASVILLE CITY COUNCIL BRIEFING MEETING ON 
MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2023 AT 4:00 PM AT 20 STADIUM DRIVE, 
THOMASVILLE, NC. 

 
Elected officials in attendance: Mayor Raleigh York, Jr.; Mayor Pro Tempore Wendy 
Sellars; and Council Members Doug Hunt, Lisa Shell, Hunter Thrift and Payton Williams. 
Council Member Ronald Bratton and Jeannette Shepherd had excused absences. 

 
1. Call to Order - Mayor York called the Briefing meeting of the Thomasville City Council 

to order.  
 

2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda  
City Manager Michael Brandt asked Council to add: 

 7. Closed Session – Attorney/Client and Economic Development 

Council Member Thrift moved to approve the agenda as amended. Council Member 
Shell seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 – 0.  

 
3. Recognitions and Presentations on September 18, 2023 - Hispanic Heritage Month 

(Sept. 15 – Oct. 15, 2023) 
 

4. Public Forum – A public forum will be held at the Council Meeting on September 18, 
2023. A two-minute time limit will be enforced. 
  

5. Public Hearing – to be held on September 18, 2023 
Request for Rezoning (Z-23-05)     
Applicant/Owner:: Ever Mejia    
Location:   105 Winston Street 
Parcel Number:  16087000C0009 
Existing Zoning:  R-6 High Density Residential  
Requested Zoning: C-4 Central Commercial  

 
The Planning Board held a public hearing on August 29, 2023 and voted 7-0 to 
approve this request because:  
 
• the rezoning is compatible with the existing development contiguous to the 

property; 
• the required buffer between commercial and residential property will suffice to 

protect existing property owners; 
• the rezoning will permit appropriate development or redevelopment of the property; 

and 
• it is reasonable and in the public interest due to its consistency with the 

comprehensive plan and, as a result, its furtherance of the goals and objectives of 
the comprehensive plan. 
 



 
 

The following items were put on the Consent Agenda by the Council members for 
consideration on September 18, 2023: 

6. Consent Agenda  

A. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Briefing Meeting on 08/14/23 
B. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Council Meeting on 08/21/23 
C. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Special Called Meeting on 08/28/23 
D. Consideration of Approval of Budget Amendment 2024-P3-01 
E. Consideration of Approval of Resolution Dissolving the Winding Creek Golf 

Course Enterprise Fund 
F. Consideration of Approval of Ordinance Establishing a Loading Zone on the First 

Block of Salem Street 
G. Consideration of Approval of Thomasville Christmas Parade Road Closure 

Ordinance 
H. Consideration of Approval of Star of Bethlehem Drive-Thru Nativity Road Closure 

Ordinance 

7. Closed Session – Attorney/Client & Economic Development 

Council Member Thrift moved to go into closed session. Council Member Hunt 
seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 – 0.  
 

Council came back to open session. No action was taken in closed session. 

The following items were put on the Regular Agenda by the Council members for 
consideration on September 18, 2023: 

8. Regular Agenda   

A. Consideration of Approval of Contract for 1 MGD Sanitary Sewer Allocation 
Agreement with Davidson County for Economic Development 

B. Consideration of Approval of Resolution Granting Law Enforcement Retiree 
Raymond Widener His Service Revolver and Badge 

9. Committee Reports and Appointments, Mayor’s Report and Appointments, City 
Manager’s Report, City Attorney’s Report on September 18, 2023 – No action was 
taken. 

10. Additional Items – N/A 

11. Adjournment – Council Member Sellars moved to adjourn. Council Member Shell 
seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 – 0. 
 

____________________________ 
 Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 

____________________________ 
Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk  



1 
 

MINUTES FOR THE THOMASVILLE CITY COUNCIL MEETING ON MONDAY, 
SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 AT 6:00 PM AT 20 STADIUM DRIVE, THOMASVILLE, NC. 
 
Elected officials in attendance: Mayor Raleigh York, Jr.; and Council Members Ron 
Bratton, Doug Hunt, Lisa Shell, Hunter Thrift, and Payton Williams.  Mayor Pro Tempore 
Wendy Sellars and Council Member Jeannette Shepherd had excused absences. 
 
1. Call to Order – Mayor York called the meeting of the Thomasville City Council to order 

and welcomed everyone in person and online. He made a special warm welcome to 
Council Member Ron Bratton who has returned following an illness. 

 
2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda – No changes were requested. 
 

Council Member Thrift moved to approve the agenda as presented. Council Member 
Hunt seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 – 0. 

 
3. Recognitions and Presentations – Hispanic Heritage Month (Sept. 15 – Oct. 15, 2023)  

 
Council Member Thrift presented the Proclamation in English. LuzAngela Shoffner, 
representative of the Latino Association of Davidson County, presented the 
proclamation in Spanish. 
 

4. Public Forum – No one came forward to speak. 
 

5. Public Hearing  
 

Request for Rezoning (Z-23-05)     
Applicant/Owner: Ever Mejia    
Location:   105 Winston Street 
Parcel Number:  16087000C0009 
Existing Zoning:  R-6 High Density Residential  
Requested Zoning: C-4 Central Commercial  
 
Mayor York opened the hearing. Property Owner Ever Mejia spoke in favor of the 
rezoning. Nobody spoke against it. Mayor York closed the public hearing. 
 
Council Member Hunt moved to approve the rezoning ordinance.  
 
Council Member Thrift moved to amend the motion to require that all City liens owed 
by Ever Mejia be paid before the zoning is changed. Council Member Williams 
seconded. Amendment unanimously approved 5 – 0. 
 
Council Member Thrift seconded the amended rezoning motion. Motion unanimously 
approved 5 – 0. 
 

6. Consent Agenda – City Manager Brandt and spoke briefly about each of these items: 



2 
 

 
A. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Briefing Meeting on 08/14/23 

B. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Council Meeting on 08/21/23 

C. Consideration of Approval of Minutes – Special Called Meeting on 08/28/23 

D. Consideration of Approval of Budget Amendment 2024-P3-01 
 
This amendment is from the Personnel/Finance Committee. It appropriates:  
 
• $4,411 of insurance proceeds in the Police Department for a vehicle accident; 

• $44,440 for hail damage to multiple vehicles; 

• $3,500 will go to City Auditor Martin Starnes & Associates on behalf of the 
Thomasville Tourism Commission for an audit of the hotel occupancy taxes; 

• $76,000 of fund balance in the Police Restitution/Forfeiture Fund for the 
purchase of night vision devices and lithium battery-powered illuminators/lasers 
for the Thomasville PD SWAT Team. This is in response to a situation that 
occurred in Denton when they didn’t have enough of this equipment, so the 
resolution of the matter lasted longer than it would have. This will make it safer 
for our SWAT Team;  

• Trade-in revenue for the current golf cart fleet is appropriated and applied to the 
purchase cost of the new fleet in the Golf Course Fund; and 

• At the request of our auditors, we are also transferring $595,578 of unspent 
ARPA funds budgeted in the Water/Sewer Capital Project Fund back to the 
Grant Special Revenue Fund at FY 2023 year-end.  

E. Consideration of Approval of Resolution Dissolving the Winding Creek Golf 
Course Enterprise Fund 
 
In order to begin the process of closing the Golf Course Enterprise Fund, Finance 
staff requested a resolution to dissolve the fund and transfer all assets and debt 
to the General Fund as part of the Parks and Recreation Department.  
 

F. Consideration of Approval of Ordinance Establishing a Loading Zone on the First 
Block of Salem Street 

 
This is north of E. Main Street for commercial vehicles serving businesses in this 
area. The loading zoning was a request from a local business. Staff from TPD, 
TFD, Planning, and Downtown Economic Development reviewed and recommend 
approval of the request.  

 



3 
 

G. Consideration of Approval of Thomasville Christmas Parade Road Closure 
Ordinance 
 
The Parade is scheduled for Saturday, December 9, following the same route as 
previous years.  
 

H. Consideration of Approval of Star of Bethlehem Drive-Thru Nativity Road Closure 
Ordinance 
 
This annual event is scheduled for Dec. 9 & 10 and will close neighborhood 
streets in and around E. Main Street south of the RR tracks.  

Council Member Hunt moved to approve all the items on the Consent Agenda. Council 
Member Williams seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 – 0. 

 
7. Regular Agenda 

A. Consideration of Approval of Resolution Granting Law Enforcement Retiree 
Raymond Widener His Service Revolver and Badge 

Mayor York presented the Resolution. Council Member Bratton moved to approve 
the Resolution. Council Member Shell seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 
– 0.  

Mayor York invited Lt. Widener forward and stated that Lt. Widener has put in over 
40 years of faithful service here in the City of Thomasville. He said Lt. Widener 
knows everybody here, and they know him, so he is able to talk to people and 
resolve issues quickly.  

Mayor York said, “We appreciate your service, the 40+ years that you’ve given the 
City of Thomasville. We certainly wish you well on your retirement.” He then 
presented the Resolution to Lt. Widener, and Chief Carter presented him with his 
service revolver and badge. He received a standing ovation by a full house. 

Council Member Ron Bratton said, “It’s truly an honor to be here to see Lt. Widener 
retire. Lt. Widener has been a policeman’s policeman. For that forty years, he has 
worked hard. I remember when Raymond came to work here. We were a very 
scaled back unit of police officers. We had five police cars. We just got rid of the 
motorcycles, so times were bad. Raymond was a forward charger. He believed in 
following the law. As he worked as an investigator, he was probably one of the 
most talented investigators we ever had. We have great guys now, but they have 
a whole lot more technology than he had. Usually, he had the ability to talk and 
reason with folks. Because of his ability to solve crime, he solved crimes all over 
the Triad area. So let me be the first to say that I am no more honored to work with 
such a great law enforcement officer than Raymond Widener. You deserve your 
retirement, and you have done us all a good job. The citizens of Thomasville truly 



4 
 

owe you an honor for you to serve them over the last forty years. So, Thank you, 
Raymond.” 

B. Consideration of Approval of Contract for 1 MGD Sanitary Sewer Allocation 
Agreement with Davidson County for Economic Development 

City Manager Brandt said after months of negotiation between Thomasville and 
Davidson County, the proposed agreement provides for a long-term agreement for 
sewer treatment of 1 MGD initially, with a potential for another 1 MGD in the future.  

The County will construct the system and dedicate the operations to the City to 
serve the US 64 corridor for Economic Development purposes. The agreement 
has “clawback” provisions to allow the City to receive annual maintenance funding 
if flow volumes are not adequate and other provisions to protect the Thomasville 
customers.  

Mayor York thanked County Commissioners Fred McClure and Steve Shell and 
County Manager Casey Smith for attending the meeting.  

Council Member Hunt moved to approve this contract. Council Member Thrift 
seconded. Council Member Williams voiced her concern about giving so much, 
about one-third, of the City’s sewer capacity to the County. She asked for a roll-
call vote.  
 
Council Member Williams voted against it.  
Council Member Thrift voted in favor of it.  
Council Member Bratton voted in favor of it.  
Council Member Hunt voted in favor of it.  
Council Member Shell voted in favor of it.  

Motion approved 4 – 1. 

Mayor York thanked the County Commissioners and the members of the Sewer 
Committee for working together on this. He said, “Hopefully it will be mutually 
beneficial to both parties for many, many years to come.” 

 
8. Committee Reports and Appointments, Mayor’s Report and Appointments, City 

Manager’s Report, City Attorney’s Report  
 
Council Member Hunt welcomed Council Member Bratton back. 
 
Council Member Bratton said he was glad to be back. He thanked everyone for their 
support during his illness. He added, “We’ve got good people in Thomasville, and I 
appreciate all you’ve done for me.” 
 
Council Member Williams invited people to check out the Downtown. She said it is 
looking awesome for the upcoming Fall season with great new banners from 



5 
 

Beautification, plants at the Big Chair, and awesome Halloween decorations. She 
reported that she attended the first NC Main Street Program meeting, saying, “It’s 
going to be such a good thing for our community! The next one is October 24th. 
Everyone is invited to participate in those. Bring your ideas.” 
 
Mayor York attended several events last month, a few of which were: 

• Downtown Streetscape planning meeting; 
• the closing for property at 52 East Main Street, which will add to the City 

property Downtown;  
• Groundbreaking for Nucor Steel’s large manufacturing plant near Hwy 64, 

which will bring jobs to the citizens of Thomasville and surrounding areas; 
• State of the City and County, where he presented information about 

happenings in Thomasville. This was hosted by the Chamber of Commerce.  
• Meetings with the Downtown Associate Community Team, including a public 

meeting regarding the 2-year process of getting Thomasville ready to apply for 
the NC Main Street Program. 

City Manager Brandt Thanked the Beautification Committee for purchasing new 
downtown banners for Fall. In addition, Reville, a local non-profit, decorated some of 
the light poles with cornstalks and other fall decorations. It really looks like Fall 
downtown!  
  
He gave a shout-out to the City’s Maintenance/Construction crew in the Public Utilities 
Department that performed a sewer repair on E. Main Street earlier this week. A local 
business owner sent an email that said:   
 

“A quick note of appreciation for Kirby (Lambeth) and his crew that came out 
for a main sewer repair today. Leading up to the job and the work performed 
today, the entire crew was extremely friendly, professional, proactive, and 
efficient. In a world where mostly complaints are voiced, please know that 
I'm grateful for these guys and their hard work that is rarely seen.” 
  

City Manager Brandt said, “These are the same people that are out at 2:00 or 3:00 in 
the morning. They do repairs to sewer lines and water lines. So we very much 
appreciate them. This is a great example of our City’s core values of quality and 
effective service, and honesty and integrity at work. Great job!”  
 
Everybody’s Night and Day is September 29 and 30th. Contact the Chamber of 
Commerce to reserve your craft booth.  
 

9. Closed Session – Attorney/Client and Economic Development 

Council Member Thrift moved that Council go into closed session for attorney/client 
and economic development matters. Council Member Shell seconded. Motion 
unanimously approved 5 – 0.  
 



6 
 

Open session resumed, and Mayor York announced that no action was taken in 
closed session.  
 

10. Additional Items – N/A 
 

11. Adjournment – Council Member Shell moved to adjourn. Council Member Williams 
seconded. Motion unanimously approved 5 – 0.  

















 

 

Budget Amendment 
To: City Manager 
From: Finance Director 

Date: 10/5/2023 

Council Budget Amendment Reference #: 2024 – P4 - 01 

Re:  2023-2024 Budget Amendment (including ARPA items) 

This ARPA grant budget amendment requires Council approval and is necessary to recognize 
revenue in the special revenue fund (Fund 045) and transfer appropriated funding to the 
proper fund. All interfund transfers must be budgeted, and the expending fund must have a 
budget. According to guidance from the UNC School of Government and N.C. Dept. of State 
Treasurer, ARPA grant funds must first be accounted for in a special revenue and then 
transferred to the expending fund. Budget authorization automatically carries forward into new 
budget years.  

The amendment appropriates grant funding in the General Fund, totaling $504,356 to 
supplant the cost of salaries in the Police Dept. for the following pay dates: 7/28/2023, 
8/11/2023, 8/25/2023, and 9/8/2023. Supplanting General Fund salaries for first responders 
using grant funding will free stated budgeted amount in the General Fund for future projects 
determined by the City Council. The supplanted salary amount will be transferred to a General 
Fund holding account for future project(s) determined by the Council. $161,465 of funding 
originally allocated for the payroll costs of the Downtown Economic Development Director will 
be transferred to supplant PD salaries. This is to ensure all ARPA funds are obligated and 
expended by the grant deadline and will ensure all available funds are used. Payroll costs of 
the Downtown Economic Development Director will be grant funded through 6/30/2025, at 
which time the position will be funded from non-grant, General Fund dollars in the annual 
budget.  

$200,003 of surplus ARPA funding in the Utility Capital Project Fund for ARPA water/sewer 
projects which came in under budgeted estimates will be reallocated and used for the 
purchase of a new floating aerator system at raw water intake at the Water Treatment Plant. 
The new system will help the plant maintain healthy oxygen levels in the water system to 
reduce the likelihood of another cloudy water outbreak. The remaining $141,600 of surplus 
ARPA funding in the Utility Capital Project Fund will be used for the final year costs of the UV 
system upgrade in the Waste Treatment Plant, which will reduce the total capital funded 
and/or financed with city funds. $50,000 will supplement ARPA grant funds and will be 

City of Thomasville 



 Page 2 

appropriated from contingency in the Water/Sewer Fund to account for any potential deficit for 
either project costing more than original estimates. 

The General Fund Budget needs to be amended to appropriate the city’s contribution (cash 
match) to the FY 2022 FEMA Assistance to Firefighters Grant award. The grantor requires a 
minimum 10% non-federal match of $4,727 for a total approved budget of $52,000. 

 
 

GENERAL FUND 

 

INCREASE REVENUE 

010-0000-380.62-00  Transfers/ARPA Funds   $   240,535.00 

010-0000-383.01-00  Refunds/Insurance Proceeds   $       2,561.00 

Total          $   243,096.00 

 

DECREASE APPROPRIATION 

010-4110-512.90-01  Contribution to Other/Economic Development $     50,000.00 

010-5110-521.02-01  Salaries/Full Time    $    342,891.00 

010-5110-521.02-01  Salaries/Full Time    $    161,465.00 

010-5310-522-36-01  Uniforms/Turn Out Gear   $        4,727.00 

010-4210-512.45-01  Contracted Services/Professional  $    102,356.00 

010-4210-511.02-01  Salaries/Full Time    $    116,266.00 

010-4210-511.04-01  Taxes/FICA     $        7,286.00 

010-4210-511.04-02  Taxes/Medicare    $        1,704.00 

010-4210-511.05-01  Group Health Insurance   $      18,567.00 

010-4210-511.05-02  Life Insurance     $           112.00 

010-4210-511.06-01  NC Retirement     $      17,530.00 

010-9010-505.58-00  Unallocated/Contingency   $        3,000.00 

010-9010-505.58-00  Unallocated/Contingency   $      12,425.00 

Total          $    838,329.00 



 Page 3 

 

 

INCREASE APPROPRIATION 

010-4110-512.26-00  Operations & Maintenance/Advertising  $       3,000.00 

010-5110-521.02-01  Salaries/Full Time    $    342,891.00 

010-5110-521.02-01  Salaries/Full Time    $    161,465.00 

010-5110-522.15-04  Maintenance & Repairs/Vehicles  $        2,561.00 

010-5110-523.60-63  Transfers To/Public Safety Grant Fund  $      12,425.00 

010-4210-512.45-01  Contracted Services/Professional  $    240,535.00 

010-4210-512.45-01  Contracted Services/Professional  $    102,356.00 

010-4210-512.45-01  Contracted Services/Professional  $    161,465.00 

010-4210-512.45-01  Contracted Services/Professional  $      50,000.00 

010-5310-522-90-60  Contribution to General Capital Project  $        4,727.00 

Total          $ 1,081,425.00 

 

WATER/SEWER CAPITAL PROJECT FUND 

 

INCREASE REVENUE 

061-7097-380.30-00  Transfers/From Combined Enterprise  $      33,000.00 

061-7098-380.30-00  Transfers/From Combined Enterprise  $      17,000.00 

Total          $     50,000.00 

DECREASE APPROPRIATION 

061-7097-574.74-00  Capital Outlay/Equipment   $        6,275.00 

061-7098-572.45-04  Contracted Services/Engineering  $      74,358.00 

061-7098-572.45-04  Contracted Services/Engineering  $      75,642.00 

061-7098-572.45-04  Contracted Services/Engineering  $        6,990.00  

Total          $    163,265.00 



 Page 4 

 

INCREASE APPROPRIATION 

061-7097-574.74-00  Capital Outlay/Equipment   $      33,000.00 

061-7097-574.74-00  Capital Outlay/Equipment   $      75,642.00 

061-7097-574.74-00  Capital Outlay/Equipment   $        6,990.00 

061-7098-574.73-00  Capital Outlay/Other Improvements  $      74,358.00 

061-7098-574.73-00  Capital Outlay/Other Improvements  $      17,000.00 

061-7098-574.73-00  Capital Outlay/Other Improvements  $        6,275.00 

Total          $    213,265.00 

 

WATER/SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND 

 

DECREASE APPROPRIATION 

030-9010-505.58-00  Unallocated/Contingency   $    55,000.00 

 

INCREASE APPROPRIATION 

030-7097-573.60-61  Transfers to / W/S Capital Projects Fund $    33,000.00 

030-7098-573.60-61  Transfers to / W/S Capital Projects Fund $    17,000.00 

030-7015-572.33-00  Operations & Maintenance/Supplies  $      5,000.00 

Total          $    55,000.00 

 

 

 

















Admin. Use Only:

Psafe11

Council Action Requested:
 Consider Approval

Requested By: Mayor Raleigh York, Jr. Department: Mayor

Item Name:
Consideration of Resolution in Support of Operation Green Light

Description of Item:
Consideration of Resolution in Support of Operation Green Light

Back-Up Materials:
Resolution

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Public Safety

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 10.3.2023



 

RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF  
OPERATION GREEN LIGHT  

 

WHEREAS,  The representatives of the City of Thomasville have the utmost respect, admiration, 
and gratitude for all of the men and women in the Armed Forces who have selflessly 
served their country and this community. Their contributions and sacrifices have been 
vital in maintaining the freedoms and the way of life enjoyed by our citizens; and 

 

WHEREAS,  There are currently approximately 700,000 Veterans in the State of North Carolina, 
with over 9,000 of them in Davidson County; and Thomasville seeks to honor these 
individuals, because they paid the high price for the freedom of all, by placing 
themselves in harms way; and 

 

WHEREAS,  Approximately 200,000 US service members transition to civilian communities each 
year, and it is estimated that there will be a 20% increase of service members 
transitioning to civilian life in the near future. Studies indicate that between 44 and 
72% of all active military service members experience high levels of stress during 
transition from military to civilian life, and they are at a higher risk for suicide during 
their first year after leaving military service; and  

 

WHEREAS,  The Mayor and City Council of Thomasville appreciate the sacrifices that United 
States Military Personnel make while defending everyone’s freedoms and believe 
specific recognition should be accorded to them in appreciation of their service. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, with designation as a Green Light for Military Service City, 
I, Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor hereby declare that November 6 - 12, 2023 in Thomasville is a time to 
salute and honor the service and sacrifice of our men and women in uniform transitioning from 
active service; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in observance of Operation Green Light, the Mayor and City 
Council of Thomasville encourage its citizens to recognize all those who helped to preserve 
freedom by displaying a green light in a window of their place of business or residence. 

Adopted this the 16th day of October, 2023. 
                 CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
   By: __________________________ 
[SEAL]     Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 

Attest: ________________________ 
        Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 



 Agenda Item Cover 
Sheet 

Admin. Use Only: Committee Name Public Safety 

Committee Date 

And Agenda # 8.8.23 Psafe8 

Item Name: 

Consider Amendment to City Ordinance Chapter 54, Article 1, Section 54-12 Regarding Soliciting and Begging 

Description of Item: 

See Memo 

Back-Up Materials: 

Memo; Amended Ordinances 

Council Action Requested: 

Approval 

Requested By: 
Chief Carter 

Department: Police 









Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

Admin. Use Only: Committee Name Public Safety 

Committee Date 

And Agenda # 8.8.23 Psafe5 

Item Name: 

Consider Addition to City Ordinance Chapter 54, Article 1 , Section 54-16 Regarding Camping on Public and Private 
Property and Addition to City Ordinance Chapter 54, Article 1 Section 54-17 Urinating and Defecating on Public Property. 

Description of Item: 

See Memo 

Back-Up Materials: 

Memo; Amended Ordinances 

Council Action Requested: 

Approval 

Requested By: 
Chief Carter 

Department: Police 



- 1

-

AN ORDINANCE ADDING THE CAMPING 

ON PUBLIC AND PRIVATE PROPERTY 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 

City Council of the City of Thomasville 

The City Council finds that the ordinance Chapter 54, Article I- In general, Sec. 54-

16, “Camping on Public and Private Property” should be added as indicated in red on Exhibit 

A (attached) and as follows: 

The wording in Section (54-16) should be added so that it reads, 

Sec. 54-16. Camping on Public Property 

a. Purpose. The streets and public areas within the city should be readily

accessible and available to residents and the public at large. The use of these

areas for camping purposes interferes with the rights of others to use the areas

for which they were intended. Such activity can constitute a public health and

safety hazard, which adversely affects neighborhoods and commercial spaces.

Camping on private property without the owner’s consent, without proper

sanitary measures, and for other than a minimal duration adversely affects

private property rights as well as public health, safety, and welfare of the city.

The purpose of this section is to maintain streets, parks, and other public and

private areas within the city in a clean, sanitary, and accessible condition and

to protect the health, safety, and public welfare of the community while

recognizing that subject to reasonable conditions, camping and camp facilities

associated with special events can be beneficial to the cultural and educational

climate in the city. Nothing in this section is intended to interfere with

otherwise lawful and ordinary uses of public or private property.

b. Definitions. As used in this section:

Camp or Camping means sleeping, making preparations to sleep 

(including lying down or the laying down of bedding for the purpose of 

sleeping), and/or storing personal belongings; the placement of tents, huts, 

tarps; parking of a motor vehicle, motor home or trailer, or mooring of a vessel 

or any other type of structure for living accommodation purposes. Camping as 

defined in this section is deemed a public nuisance, and the city may summarily 

remove a temporary shelter, bedding, or personal belongings. 

Camp Facilities include, but are not limited to, tents, huts, vehicles, 

vehicle camping outfits, or temporary shelter. 



- 2  

- 

 

Establish means setting up or moving equipment, supplies, or materials 

onto public or private property to “camp” or operate camp facilities. 
 

Maintain means keeping or permitting equipment, supplies, or 

materials to remain on public or private property to camp or operate camp 

facilities. 
 

Operate means participating or assisting in establishing or maintaining 

a camp or camp facility. 
 

Ordinary High-Water Mark means the average level of the water 

attained in annual seasonal flow. 
 

Park or Park Facilities means any areas set aside for recreational uses, 

areas conserved for their scenic interest, playgrounds, recreation centers, golf 

courses, and any other areas owned or operated by the City of Thomasville and 

which are intended for active or passive recreational purposes. The word “park” 

shall also include any parking lot adjacent to any park, any buildings, 

equipment, plants, or other facilities located in any park, and any landscaped 

public area and/or right-of-way. 
 

Private Property means all privately-owned property including, but 

not limited to, streets, sidewalks, alleys, and improved or unimproved land. 
 

Public Property means all city-owned property including, but not 

limited to, streets, sidewalks, alleys, improved or unimproved land, and parks. 
 

Store means to put aside or accumulate for use when needed, to put for 

safekeeping, to place or leave in a location. 
 

 

Unattended Property means no person is present with the personal 

property that asserts or claims ownership over the personal property. 

Conversely, the property is considered “attended” if a person is present with 

the personal property and the person claims ownership over the personal 

property. 
 

Vehicle for the purpose of this chapter shall be defined by 

N.C.G.S. § 20-4.01 as it now exists or may hereafter be amended. 
 

c. Unlawful Camping on Public and Property. It shall be unlawful for any 

person to camp on public property as follows: 
 

1.  It is unlawful to camp upon any city-owned property, including, 

without limitation, streets, sidewalks, 



- 3  

- 
 

parking lots, parking structures, easements, open spaces, parks, 

cemeteries, real property within or below one hundred feet (100’) 

above the ordinary high-water marker of any lake, waterway, 

river, stream, pond, or reservoir, or corporation yards. 
 

2. Any encampment on publicly-owned property within the city that 

is deemed a high risk to the public’s health and safety will be 

posted “No Trespass”, removed, and cleaned. 

 

3. It is unlawful to camp on private property without permission 

from the owner of said private property. 
 

d. City Manager Permit. The city manager may issue a temporary permit to 

allow camping on city-owned or private property in connection with a 

special event. 
 

e. Enforcement. Any sworn law enforcement officer shall have the authority 

to enforce this section. 
 

1. Penalty. Any person who violates any of the provisions of this 

section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor as provided in G.S. § 14-

4 and, upon conviction, shall be subject to a maximum fine of 

$500.00 per occurrence, imprisonment, or both. 
 

2. Severability. If any provision of this section is declared invalid or 

unconstitutional for any reason, the remaining provisions shall be 

severable and shall continue in full force and effect. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





Admin. Use Only:

Psafe9

Council Action Requested:

Noise Ordinance- Attorney Misti Whitman

Agenda Item Cover Sheet
Committee Name Public Safety

Committee Date 
And Agenda # 10.3.2023

Item Name:
Consideration of Noise Ordinance

Description of Item:
City Council has requested the noise ordinance to be changed to allow noise in all zoning districts to occur until 10pm Sunday 
to Thursday and 11pm on Friday and Saturday. City Attorney Misti Whitman will bring noise ordinance revisions forward for 
approval by Council.

Back-Up Materials:

 Consider Approval

Requested By: City Council Department: City Council



AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE NOISE ORDINANCE  
 

City Council of the City of Thomasville 
 
 

 The City Council finds that the current Noise Ordinance which is found in Article II Noise 
of the Code of Ordinances is deficient in many respects, and that it would be advisable to amend 
the current Ordinance in its entirety. 
 
 Therefore, be it enacted that Article II Noise is hereby repealed and is hereby replaced 
with the following new Article II Noise as set forth on Exhibit A. 
 
 

See Exhibit A 
 

 
 This Ordinance shall be effective ____________________, 2023 
 
 Upon the motion of Member of Council ______________________________, and a 
second by Member of Council ______________________________, the foregoing ordinance was 
passed upon its first reading by a vote of _________________________. 
 
 This _____ day of ____________, 2023. 
 
 
       CITY OF THOMASVILLE 
 
    
       By: ________________________________ 
              Raleigh York, Jr., Mayor 
 
 
Attest:  _____________________________ 
             Wendy S. Martin, City Clerk 
 
[SEAL] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit A 
 

ARTICLE II. - NOISE 
 
Sec. 34-31. - Purpose and applicability of article. 
 

(a)  This article is set forth for the purpose of promoting the public health, safety and general 
welfare through the control of noises which occur in public places or which cross property 
or occupancy lines and which annoy or disturb humans or which cause or tend to cause 
adverse psychological or physiological effects on humans. From and after the effective 
date of the ordinance from which this article is derived, a person shall not make, cause to 
be made, allow to be made under their control, or continue to make any noise disturbance, 
or operate, use, cause to be used or operated, or allow to be used under their control, or 
otherwise create or allow to be created, sounds in such a manner as to create a noise 
disturbance by exceeding any of the sound levels as set forth in this article. 

  
(b)  No sound being created prior to the effective date of the ordinance from which this article 

is derived shall continue to be made after such effective date except in conformance with 
all the provisions of this article. 

 
(Ord. No. 855-B, § 12-101, 6-17-91) 

 
Sec. 34-32. Generally, prohibited. 
 

(a)  Subject to the provisions of this section, it shall be unlawful for any person or persons to 
make, permit, continue or cause to be made or to create any unreasonably loud, disturbing 
and unnecessary noise in the city, with the exception of construction work done pursuant to 
a federal, state, county or city contract which requires work to be performed during certain 
hours. Construction work under these conditions shall be exempt from the provisions of this 
section. For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

  
(1)   Unreasonably loud. Noise which is substantially incompatible with the time and 

location where created to the extent that it creates an actual or imminent interference with 
peace or good order. 

  
(2)   Disturbing. Noise which is perceived by a person of ordinary sensibilities as interrupting 

the normal peace and calm of the area. 
  
(3)   Unnecessary. Any excessive or unusually loud sound or any sound which is of such 

character, intensity and duration as to disturb the peace and quiet of any neighborhood or 
which disturbs, injures or endangers the comfort, repose, health, peace or safety of any 
person, and being a type of sound which could be lessened or otherwise controlled by the 
maker without unduly restricting his conduct. 

  
(b)  In determining whether a noise is unreasonably loud, disturbing and unnecessary, the 

following factors incident to such noise are to be considered: Time of day; proximity to 
residential structures; whether the noise is recurrent, intermittent or constant; the volume and 



intensity; whether the noise has been enhanced in volume or range by any type of electronic 
or mechanical means; the character and zoning of the area; whether the noise is related to the 
normal operation of a business or other labor activity; whether the noise is subject to being 
controlled without unreasonable effort or expense to the creator thereof. A continuing or non-
resetting audible burglar or fire alarm shall not be considered a violation of this article. 
Operation of power producing generators under emergency conditions or power outages shall 
be exempt from the provisions of this section. 

  
Sec. 34-33. Specific prohibitions. 
 
The following acts, among others, are declared to be loud, disturbing and unnecessary noises in 
violation of this section but this enumeration shall not be deemed to be exclusive: 
 

(a)   Blowing horns. The sounding of any horn, whistle or signal device on any automobile, 
motorcycle, bus or other vehicle or railroad train, except as a danger signal required by law, 
so as to create any unreasonable, loud or harsh sound or the sounding of such device for an 
unnecessary and unreasonable period of time; 

  
(b)   Bells, gongs and sirens. The sounding of any bell, gong or siren upon any vehicle which 

disturbs the quiet or repose of persons in the vicinity thereof, other than police, fire or other 
emergency vehicles; 

  
(c)   Radios, stereos, etc. The playing of any radio, television set, record player, stereo, 

phonograph or other sound reproduction system, musical instrument or sound-producing or 
sound amplifying device on the premises of any dwelling, hotel or motel room, in such 
manner or with such volume, particularly but not limited to the hours between 10:00 p.m. 
and 7:00 a.m. Sunday through Thursday, and the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. Friday 
and Saturday; and between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. on New Year’s Eve, 
Everybody’s Night and July 4th, if the sound generated is audible at a distance of fifty (50) 
feet or more from the dwelling's property line, or, in the case of a hotel or motel room, the 
unit's most outer boundary wall.  This cutoff time shall not be applicable on New Year’s Eve, 
Everybody’s Night and July 4th; 

  
(d)   Sound-producing equipment in vehicles. The playing of any radio, cassette player, compact 

disc, video tape or disc, or other similar device for reproducing sound located on or in any 
motor vehicle on a public street, highway, within any public vehicular area, or on the 
premises of a private residence, if the sound generated or noise vibration therefrom is audible 
or can be felt at a distance of fifty (50) feet or more from the radio, cassette player, compact 
disc, video tape or disc, or other similar device that is sound producing the sound; 

  
(e)   Pets. The keeping of any animal or bird, which, by causing frequent or long continued noise, 

shall disturb the comfort and repose of any person in the vicinity; 
  
(f)   Use of Vehicles. The use of any automobile, motorcycle, dirt bike, go-cart, recreational 

vehicle or any other vehicle so out of repair or so loaded or operated in such manner as to 
create loud or unnecessary grating, grinding, rattling, screeching of tires or other noise; 

  



(g)   Blowing whistles. The blowing of any steam whistle attached to any stationary boiler except 
to give notice of the time to begin or stop work or as a warning of danger; 

  
(h)   Exhaust discharge. The discharge into the open air of the exhaust of any steam engine, 

stationary internal combustion engine, motor vehicle or motor boat engine, except through a 
muffler or other device which will effectively prevent loud or explosive noises therefrom; 

  
(i)    Compressed air devices. The use of any mechanical device operated by compressed air 

unless the noise created thereby is effectively muffled and reduced; 
  
(j)    Building operations. The erection (including excavation), demolition, alteration or repair of 

any building in a residential zone other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. 
on weekdays of any day or in any zone other than a residential zone between the hours of 
10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. of any day, except in the case of urgent necessity in the interest of 
public safety, and then only with a permit from the building inspector, which permit may be 
renewed for a period of three (3) days or less while the emergency continues; 

  
(k)  Noises near schools, etc. The creation of any excessive noise on any street adjacent to any 

school, institution of learning, library, or court while the same is in session, adjacent to any 
hospital, or any church during services, which unreasonably interferes with the working of 
such institution; 

  
(l)    Loading and unloading operations. The creation of loud and excessive noise in connection 

with loading or unloading any vehicle or the opening or destruction of bales, boxes, crates 
and containers; 

  
 (m) Peddlers and vendors. The shouting and crying of peddlers, barkers, hawkers and vendors 

which disturb the quiet and peace of the neighborhood; 
  
(n)   Noises to attract attention. The use of any drum, loudspeaker or other instrument     or device 

for the purpose of attracting attention, by creation of noise to any performance, show, sale, 
display or advertisement of merchandise; 

  
(o)  Loudspeakers or amplifiers. 
  

(1)   It is prohibited within or from any commercial establishment or private entertainment or 
recreational venue to allow any loudspeaker or other mechanically-amplified device to 
be played so that the sound therefrom may be heard at a distance of fifty (50) feet or more 
from the facility's property line, between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. Sunday 
through Thursday, and the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. Friday and Saturday; and 
between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. on New Year’s Eve, Everybody’s Night 
and July 4th; 

  
(2)   The use of any mechanical loudspeakers or amplifiers on trucks or other moving vehicles 

for advertising or other purposes; 
  



(3)   In the exercise of noncommercial free speech, loudspeakers or amplifiers may be used, 
subject to the following condition: 

 
It shall be unlawful for any person to speak into a loudspeaker or amplifier within the 
corporate limits of the city, when such loudspeaker or amplifier is so adjusted that the 
voice of the speaker is amplified to the extent that it is audible at a distance in excess of 
one hundred fifty (150) feet from the person speaking; city sponsored events and 
recreational games shall be exempt; 

  
(p) Business noises. The conducting, operating or maintaining of any place of business located 

in any residential zone so as to cause loud or offensive noises to be emitted therefrom 
between the hours of 8:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.; 

  
(q) Guns, fireworks, and combustibles. The firing of guns, fireworks, gunpowder or other 

combustible substance in the streets or elsewhere, for the purpose of making a noise or 
disturbance, except by permit from the police department. 

   
Sec. 34-34. Off-Road Vehicles 

  
(a)  No off-road vehicle shall create noise to a level that it becomes a public noise nuisance. 
(b)  No off-road vehicle shall be operated within the city unless it is equipped with a factory-

installed or functionally equivalent muffler in good working order and in constant operation. 
(c)  No off-road vehicle shall be operated within 200 feet of a dwelling unless it is being operated 

legally on a public road or such dwelling is occupied by the operator of the off-road vehicle. 
(d)  No off-road vehicle shall be operated in such a manner as to cause excessive noise longer 

than one hour per day beyond boundaries of the property on which the noise originates 
between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m. 

  
 Sec. 34-35. Enforcement and repeated violations. 
 
Enforcement and repeated violations. Where there is a violation of any provision of this article, 
the city, at its discretion, may take one (1) or more of the following enforcement actions: 

  
(a)  A police officer may issue a citation as provided herein, subjecting the violator to a civil 

penalty of $100.00. A second violation by the same person or business within one (1) year 
of the first violation shall subject such person or business to a penalty of $200.00. All 
subsequent violations by the same person or business within one (1) year of the first violation 
shall subject such person or business to a civil penalty of $300.00. 

  
(b)  Failure to pay a civil penalty imposed under this section within 10 days may subject the 

offender to an additional $25.00 delinquency charge. Any unpaid penalty or delinquency 
charge may be recovered by the city in a civil action. 

  
(c)  The civil penalties imposed by this section and the proceeds therefrom as collected by 

payment, civil action or otherwise, shall belong to the city and shall be paid into the general 
fund of the city under such conditions as prescribed by the annual budget. 



  
(d)  In the alternative, pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes, section 14-4, a violation of 

this section may be considered a misdemeanor. Such a misdemeanor is punishable by a fine 
of not more than $500.00 or imprisonment designated for a Class 3 misdemeanor. 

  
(e)  A property owner shall be liable for the cost of abating the nuisance or remedying the health 

or safety hazard created by a tenant for a third or subsequent violation of this ordinance, as 
specified in section 34-36. A property owner shall be liable for the actual cost of the 
abatement or remedy, taking into account the cost of law enforcement personnel salaries, law 
enforcement equipment, administrative overhead, law enforcement recordkeeping, mailing 
and notification costs, and any other costs directly or indirectly attributable to the cost of 
abating the nuisance of remedying the health or safety hazard. In no case shall the cost 
assessed under this subsection be less than $100.00 for the third violation by the tenant (initial 
assessment of property owner), or less the $75.00 for any subsequent assessment for a 
violation by the same tenant. If costs assessed pursuant to this subsection are not paid by the 
property owner within 30 days of receipt of a statement of costs from the city, the costs may 
be placed as a lien on the property where the hazard existed. 

  
(f)   Each separate day of a continued violation shall be a separate and distinct offense and shall 

give rise to a separate and distinct penalty. 
 
Sec. 34-36. Responsibility of property owner for violations by tenants. 
 
No property owner shall allow a noise-related nuisance or health or safety hazard to be created or 
maintained by or on account of tenants of the property owner. For purposes of this subsection, a 
noise-related nuisance or health or safety hazard shall be deemed to exist when a tenant or group 
of tenants at a specific location receives a third citation for a noise ordinance violation pursuant to 
this article. The property owner shall be liable for the cost of remedying the nuisance or health or 
safety hazard in accordance with the provisions of section 34-35(5). A property owner may be held 
liable for the costs of abating the nuisance or remedying the health or safety hazard only if the 
property owner has been notified in writing, via actual delivery or certified mail, of the first two 
ordinance violations. A property owner shall be liable for the cost of abating the nuisance or 
remedying the health or safety hazard upon the third and any subsequent action by the same tenant 
at a specific location, provided the third violation occurs at least 15 days from the date of actual 
receipt of notice of the second violation. It shall be a complete defense to a citation under this 
subsection if the owner of the real property involved can prove that he is actively pursuing an 
eviction process according to law, and that the eviction process was begun prior to the date of the 
third or any subsequent violation by the same tenant at specific location. 
 

https://www.municode.com/library/
https://library.municode.com/HTML/14827/level4/PTIICOOR_CH34EN_ARTIINO_DIV1GE.html#PTIICOOR_CH34EN_ARTIINO_DIV1GE_S34-33VIARPEPACOAB

	10-16-23 Council Meeting Agenda
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet.pdf
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	20231004_102833
	Public Safety October 2023 (2).pdf
	Psafe3 supporting documentation
	ADP6A8F.tmp
	Psafe3



	Public Safety October 2023 (2)






	Z-23-06 Memo to Michael Brandt_Planning Board Action September 26, 2023 CC
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Z-23-07 coversheet
	Psafe4 supporting documentation

	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Public Safety October 2023 (2)
	Psafe4 supporting documentation
	Z-23-07 City Council Packet.pdf
	Farmview Solar_Survey Map Status (3).pdf
	Farmview Solar Current Zoning Classification Map.pdf

	Farmview Solar_Survey Map Status (5).pdf
	Farmview_Application Survey Map Status.pdf






	20231004_131537
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Public Safety October 2023 (2)
	Psafe4 supporting documentation
	Z-23-07 City Council Packet.pdf
	ADPB62C.tmp
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20







	09-11-23 Council Briefing Minutes
	1. Call to Order - Mayor York called the Briefing meeting of the Thomasville City Council to order.
	2. Additions and Deletions to the Agenda
	City Manager Michael Brandt asked Council to add:
	7. Closed Session – Attorney/Client and Economic Development

	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	09-18-23 Council Meeting Minutes
	1. Call to Order – Mayor York called the meeting of the Thomasville City Council to order and welcomed everyone in person and online. He made a special warm welcome to Council Member Ron Bratton who has returned following an illness.








	10-09-23 Briefing Packet.pdf
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	coversheet ARPA
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Grant Project Ordinance - ARPA Funds




	coverpage AFG
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Grant Project Ordinance - FEMA Assistance to Firefighters Grant
	Personnel Finance October 2023
	PF3 - Supporting Documentation







	BdgtAmend 2024 - P4 - 01 (including ARPA items)
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Coverpage GOlden leaf
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Grant Project Ordinance - Goldent Leaf Grant for Nucor for Project M
	Grant Project Ordinance - Governors Highway Safety Grant
	Public Safety October 2023 (2)
	Psafe11 Supporting Documentation
	PSafe11


	Resolution in support of Operation Green Light 10-16-23
	RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF
	OPERATION GREEN LIGHT








	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Public Safety October 2023 (2)
	PSafe8 Supporting Documentation






	Soliciting and Begging Ordinance
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Public Safety October 2023 (2)
	PSafe5 Supporting Documentation
	Sec. 54-16. Camping on Public Property







	Urinating Ordinance
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	Public Safety October 2023 (2)
	PSafe9 Supporting Documentation
	PSafe9







	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	10-09-23 Briefing Packet
	COT NOISE ORDINANCE 2023 option 1










